A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER. 

The State of Washington, respondent below, asks this Court 

to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this petition. 

B. DECISION. 

In the unpublished decision dated August 27, 2018, the 

Court of Appeals reversed Karl Pierce's conviction for felony 

murder in the second degree, and the conviction of his 

co-defendant Michael Bienhoff in Court of Appeals No. 7 4519-1-1 

issued the same day, concluding that the prosecutor committed 

prejudicial misconduct during voir dire by asking the potential jurors 

if they could set aside considerations of punishment in a murder 

case. See Appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW. 

1. Whether it is appropriate for the parties to inquire of 

potential jurors whether they can follow the court's instructions, in 

this case, the instruction to disregard considerations of punishment 

in deciding the defendants' guilt. 

2. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in concluding 

that the prosecutor's questions during voir dire were not improper, 

and denying the defendants' motion for a mistrial. 
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3. Whether this Court's decision in State v. Townsend, 142 

Wn.2d 838, 846, 15 P.3d 145 (2016), is incorrect and harmful. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

Karl Pierce was charged by information with felony murder in 

the first degree predicated on attempted robbery in the first degree. 

CP 102-03. He was tried with co-defendant Michael Bienhoff. The 

jury found both Pierce and Bienhoff guilty as charged. CP 192. 

It was undisputed at trial that Precious Reed was killed in a 

parking lot at Woodland Park by a single gunshot wound. RP 1132, 

3039-46, 3119. 1 It was undisputed that Reed was killed while he 

and Bienhoff were seated in the front seat of Reed's van. RP 1639, 

3452-55. Reed had agreed to meet Bienhoff, an old acquaintance, 

at Woodland Park because Bienhoff purported to have a large 

amount of marijuana to sell. RP 1614-16, 3233, 3428. The dispute 

at trial was whether Bienhoff and Pierce were trying to rob Reed at 

the time of Reed's death, or whether Reed was trying to rob 

Bienhoff. 

1 Most, but not all of the volumes of the verbatim report of proceedings are 

consecutively paginated. As in appellant's brief, the consecutively paginated 

volumes of the verbatim proceedings will be referred to as RP. The separately 

paginated volumes of the verbatim proceedings will be referred to by the date of 

the proceeding, e.g., RP (10/7/15) at 190. 
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Prior to jury selection, co-defendant Bienhoff moved to admit 

evidence that conviction would constitute his third strike. RP 269. 

Bienhoff argued that such evidence was admissible because 

Bienhoff would testify that he would never commit robbery knowing 

that it would be his third strike. RP 270. The trial court ruled that 

the defense could present evidence that Bienhoff would be facing a 

lengthy sentence, but not that this was his third strike. RP 27 4. 

Jury selection in this case lasted four days. On the third day, 

during a discussion of reasonable doubt, Juror 56 volunteered that 

his conscience would be bothered all his life if he voted to convict a 

person and then later found out that the person was innocent. RP 

798. He spoke about cases where people spent many years in 

prison and then were found to be innocent. RP 799. He asked, 

"How can I live to [sic] my conscience that I put that person in 

prison for many years and ask him to forgive me?" RP 799. Juror 

56 stated that he would rather not be on the jury. RP 800. Pierce 

challenged Juror 56 for cause, and the court granted the challenge. 

RP 800-01. Then the lunch break occurred. RP 801. 

After lunch, as the prosecution began its next round of voir 

dire, the prosecutor referred back to Juror 56's concerns, shared in 

the presence of the other jurors, about the weight of being a juror. 
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RP 824. Because Juror 56 had expressed discomfort with making 

a decision that would result in someone being imprisoned for many 

years, the prosecutor followed up on that concern by inquiring 

about the venire's ability to decide guilt without considering the 

resulting punishment. RP 799, 825. The focus of the State's 

inquiry was whether the jurors could render a guilty verdict 

regardless of potentially lengthy punishment. RP 825. The State 

specifically inquired whether the murder charge caused any of the 

jurors concern. RP 825. At that point, Juror 1 asked about the 

death penalty. RP 825. The prosecutor deferred to the trial court: 

"I will let the judge answer that question." RP 825. 

The trial court told the jurors, "The Washington Supreme 

Court has said that I can't tell you whether a death sentence is 

involved or not." RP 825-26. Some of the jurors expressed 

concern about serving on a case involving the death penalty, at 

least one juror indicated that he or she knew whether this was a 

death penalty case, and other jurors expressed general confusion 

about the process. RP 826-38. After considerable discussion 

between the State and the prospective jurors with no objection, 

Bienhoff and Pierce requested a mistrial. RP 838, 844. The trial 

court reminded the defense that the State had not mentioned the 
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death penalty: "All that Mr. Yip did was asked them if they had a 

problem not being involved in the penalty." RP 839. The court 

concluded that the State's voir dire was not "improper in any way," 

and denied the motion for a mistrial. RP 846. The trial court noted 

that, in its experience, the question of the death penalty is often 

raised by jurors during voir dire in first degree murder cases. RP 

846.2 The trial court instructed the potential jurors as follows, 

without objection: 

I am not allowed to tell you whether this is a 
capital case. However, if it is, the question of whether 
the death penalty would be imposed is a separate 
proceeding at which there could be additional 
evidence and would be determined by a jury that 
follows the trial and any conviction. 

RP 887. 

Eventually Juror 76 was excused for cause by the trial court 

because she stated she found jury service to be too stressful. RP 

837-38. She stated "I don't know if I could make a decision for 

people. I get really nervous. I couldn't even eat what I brought for 

lunch. I can't decide." RP 837 (emphasis added). Outside the 

presence of the jurors, the parties discussed Juror 76 and the court 

2 The court observed, "I actually was amazed that we had gotten this far without 

anybody raising the death penalty ... that's one of things that usually comes out 

of a juror's mouth." RP 846. 
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clarified that she was being dismissed because "she is emotionally 

unable to be a juror." RP 858. "If somebody is breaking down and 

crying, I am going to let them go." RP 858. Notably, Juror 76 

reported that her extreme discomfort with being a juror began 

before lunch, and thus before any mention of the death penalty. 

Indeed, the trial court noted this, stating "I think 76 was upset 

before there ever was any discussion of a death penalty case." RP 

849. Having previously asked for Juror 76's excusal on hardship 

grounds, neither defendant objected when she was excused, with 

Bienhoff's counsel reiterating '.'I think she should have been 

excused for hardship." RP 856-58. 

The State exercised a peremptory challenge against Juror 6, 

one of the African-American jurors, after the trial court refused to 

excuse her for cause. In responding to a Batson3 challenge, the 

State gave three reasons for the peremptory challenge: 1) she said 

she could not be a juror if she thought the defendant was facing a 

life sentence, 2) her brother was convicted of attempted murder-a 

crime very similar to the crime in question, and 3) that she "paused 

3 Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79; 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2d 69 (1986). 

Juror 6 was not the sole member of a racially cognizable group. See Seattle v. 

Erickson, 188 Wn.2d 721, 734, 398 P.3d 1124 (2017). The jury that served 

included one person who appeared to be of African-American heritage. RP 

1040. 
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for a very long time" before being able to answer that she could 

give the State a fair trial, and had strong opinions that the criminal 

justice system had not treated her brother fairly. RP 1017-19. The 

trial court allowed the challenge, stating "the State clearly has 

nondiscriminatory reasons for exercising its peremptory challenge 

against Juror Number 6." RP 1020. 

Two other jurors who expressed concerns about the death 

penalty, but stated that they could follow the law, served on the 

jury: Jurors 15 and 20. RP 828-30, 1026. Juror 15 stated, "I don't 

like the death penalty at all. At the same time, as you say, it's not 

our decision here." RP 829. Juror 20 stated, "Do I like the death 

penalty? No. Do I want to send either of these boys to die? No." 

RP 830. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED. 

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION CONFLICTS 

WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN STATE V. 
TOWNSEND, WHICH DIRECTS THAT INQUIRY AS 

TO WHETHER THE POTENTIAL JURORS CAN 
DISREGARD PUNISHMENT IS ENTIRELY 
PROPER. 

In reversing the convictions, the Court of Appeals accepted 

the defendants' characterization that the prosecutor improperly 

incited a discussion of the death penalty during voir dire. However, 
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the record reflects that the prosecutor properly questioned the 

potential jurors about their ability to follow the court's instructions 

that "you may not consider the fact that punishment will follow." CP 

131. Because this Court has directed that jurors who cannot 

disregard punishment should be screened out during voir dire, the 

Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a decision of this Court. 

In State v. Townsend, 142 Wn.2d 838, 15 P.3d 145 (2001), 

the State informed the potential jurors during voir dire that "This 

case does not involve the death penalty." kl There was no 

objection by the defense. kl This Court held that defense counsel 

was deficient in not objecting. kl at 847. This Court expressed 

concern that informing the jury that a case does not involve the 

death penalty would result in jurors being "less attentive during trial, 

less deliberative in their assessment of the evidence and less 

inclined to hold out if they know that execution is not a possibility." 

kl However, after finding counsel's performance to be deficient, 

this Court found that the defendant was not prejudiced. kl at 848. 

Six years later, in State v. Mason, 160 Wn.2d 910, 162 P.3d 

396 (2007), this Court addressed the issue again. During voir dire, 

the trial court told the potential jurors that "this is not a capital case." 

kl This Court expressed its willingness to reconsider its holding in 
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Townsend: "If ... there are legitimate strategic and tactical 

reasons why informing a jury about issues of punishment would 

advance the interest of justice and provide a more fair trial, then 

counsel should zealously advance the arguments." kl at 930.4 

However, because defense counsel had objected, the court found 

that the advisement was error, but harmless error. kl 

A year later, in State v. Hicks, 163 Wn.2d 477, 482-83, 181 

P.3d 831 (2008), this Court relied on Townsend and Mason, and 

summarized: "Under our precedent, in response to any mention of 

capital punishment, the trial judge should state generally that the 

jury is not to consider sentencing." kl at 487. The court concluded 

that defense counsel was deficient insofar as counsel participated 

in informing the jury that the case was noncapital, but that the error 

was not prejudicial because there was "no indication that the jurors 

failed to take their duty seriously." kl at 488. 

This question was recently addressed again, albeit briefly, in 

State v. Clark, 187 Wn.2d 641, 389 P.3d 462 (2017). In Clark, 

defense counsel did not object when the State informed the 

4 But, of course, since this Court has repeatedly found it to be ineffective 

assistance of counsel to allow the jury to be told the case does not involve the 

death penalty, defense counsel understandably would feel bound by that 

precedent from advocating for informing the jury. 
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prospective jurors that the case did not involve the death penalty. 

kl at 654. Noting that the jury was properly informed of its duties, 

and there was "no indication that the jury disregarded its 

instructions or paid less attention to the evidence presented 

throughout Clark's trial because it was told that the death penalty 

was not at issue," the court held that Clark was not prejudiced and 

there was no ineffective assistance of counsel. kl at 655. Unlike 

Townsend, Mason, Hicks, and Clark, the prospective jurors in this 

case were not informed that convictions could not result in the 

death penalty. 

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals relied on Townsend's 

holding that the jury should never be informed of sentencing 

considerations in reversing the convictions. The Court of Appeals 

concluded that the prosecutor committed misconduct when he 

asked the jurors about their ability to disregard punishment. In 

doing so, the Court of Appeals stood Townsend on its head. 

Townsend does not say that the jurors' ability to disregard 

the possibility of punishment is a forbidden topic in voir dire. To the 

contrary, Townsend instructs that "Rather than giving jurors 

information about the penalty in a noncapital case, we believe that 

voir dire should be used to screen out jurors who would allow 
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punishment to influence their determination of guilt or innocence." 

142 Wn.2d at 846. How are such jurors to be "screened out," as 

this Court directs, unless they are questioned about their ability to 

set aside concerns about the potential punishment? In this case, 

the prosecutor properly probed the potential jurors' ability to set 

aside considerations of punishment. 

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals implies that the initial 

inquiry about punishment was not improper. The opinion states: 

The record reveals that the potential jurors indicated 
that they understood the prosecutor's description of 
the jury's role and did not have follow up questions. 
But the prosecutor nonetheless elicited a discussion 
of the death penalty through his repeated questioning 
of the jury's understanding and the recitation of the 
charges against Pierce and Bienhoff. 

Slip opinion, at 13. If the initial question about disregarding 

punishment was not improper, then additional questioning to 

prompt the jury to discuss that concept, rather than simply nod their 

heads, was not improper. Effective voir dire requires more than a 

series of rhetorical questions. Effective voir dire requires the jurors 

to engage with the parties and one another in discussing their 

ability to follow the law. Prompting the jurors to discuss their 

thoughts about their ability to set considerations of punishment 

aside, as required by the jury instructions, is not misconduct. To 
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the contrary, it is the type of questioning recommended by this 

Court in Townsend. By finding that this questioning constituted 

prosecutorial misconduct, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts 

with Townsend. 

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION CONFLICTS 

WITH LONG-STANDING PRECEDENT THAT 
LEAVES THE REGULATION OF VOIR DIRE AND 
MOTIONS FOR NEW TRIAL WITHIN THE SOUND 
DISCRETION OF THE TRIAL COURT. 

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals concluded that "the 

prosecutor nonetheless elicited a discussion of the death penalty 

through his repeated questioning of the jury's understanding and 

recitation of the charges against Pierce." Slip opinion, at 12. This 

finding of improper intent is directly contrary to the trial court's 

determination that the prosecutor's intent was not improper, and 

that a mistrial was not warranted. 

When defense counsel objected to the line of questioning as 

an improper attempt to "death-qualify"5 the panel, the trial court 

disagreed, stating: "But the State didn't proceed to death-qualify 

5 "Death qualification" refers to a process in capital cases where jurors opposing 

the death penalty can be challenged for cause and excluded if their views impair 

their ability to follow the court's instructions. State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 

593-94, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). Death qualification in capital cases comports with 

both the federal and state constitutions. lsL at 593-601. The jury in this case was 

not death-qualified-jurors who opposed the death penalty served on the jury. 
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them. All that Mr. Yip did was ask them if they had a problem not 

being involved in the penalty ... He pivoted off of what Juror 56 had 

said about concerns about sitting in judgment." RP 838-39. And 

indeed, just before the lunch break, Juror 56 had expressed 

concerns about being a juror when the defendant might be sent to 

prison for "many, many years." RP 799. After further discussion, 

the trial court reiterated, "I don't think that what Mr. Yip did was 

improper in any way." RP 846. As the trial court found, the 

prosecutor was properly inquiring into whether the other potential 

jurors could set aside the possibility of severe punishment in 

determining the defendants' guilt, particularly since Bienhoff 

intended to testify that he was facing a "lengthy sentence." 

The Court of Appeals failed to accord any deference to the 

trial court's determination that the prosecutor did not engage in an 

improper line of questioning during voir dire. This Court has 

recognized that voir dire is conducted under the supervision of the 

trial court, and "a great deal must, of necessity, be left to its sound 

discretion." State v. Davis, 141 Wn.2d 798, 10 P.3d 977 (2000). 

See also State v. Robinson, 75 Wn.2d 230,231,450 P.3d 180 

(1969) (rejecting claim of misconduct and noting trial court's 

"considerable latitude"); State v. Munzanreder, 199 Wn. App. 162, 
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175, 398 P.3d 1160 (2017) (noting the trial court's "considerable 

discretion"); State v. Fredericksen, 40 Wn. App. 749, 752, 700 P.2d 

369 (1985) (refusal to permit questions reviewed for abuse of 

discretion). The United States Supreme Court has explained that 

voir dire is not easily subject to appellate review: 

The trial judge's function at this point in the trial is not 

unlike that of the jurors later on in the trial. Both must 

reach conclusions as to impartiality and credibility by 

relying on their own evaluations of demeanor 
evidence and of responses to questions. In neither 
instance can an appellate court easily second-guess 

the conclusions of the decision-maker who heard and 

observed the witnesses. 

Rosales-Lopez v. United States, 451 U.S. 182, 188, 101 S. Ct. 

1629, 1634, 68 L. Ed. 2d 22 (1981) (citations omitted). 

The trial court reasonably exercised its discretion in deciding 

that the prosecutor had not engaged in an improper line of 

questioning in light of the concerns raised by Juror 56. RP 839 

(noting that the prosecutor had "pivoted off of what juror 56 had 

said about concerns about sitting in judgment"). The trial court also 

determined that the resulting discussion of punishment did not 

require mistrial. RP 846. 
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In reversing Pierce's conviction, the Court of Appeals 

misapprehended the record and failed to give proper deference to 

the trial court's ruling on this issue. 

3. WHETHER STATE V. TOWNSEND IS INCORRECT 
AND HARMFUL BECAUSE IT CREATES 
UNNECESSARY CONFUSION DURING VOIR DIRE 
IS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC 
IMPORTANCE THAT FREQUENTLY AFFECTS THE 
JURY SELECTION PROCESS IN MURDER CASES. 

Unlike Townsend, Mason, Hicks, and Clark, the prospective 

jurors in this case were not informed that convictions would not 

result in the death penalty. Rather they were told that they could 

not be informed whether it was a death penalty case, and that any 

proceeding involving punishment would involve another jury. RP 

887. In so instructing the venire, the trial court was endeavoring to 

comply with the holding of Townsend, while also endeavoring to 

prevent potential jurors who opposed the death penalty (who most 

defense lawyers would consider good defense jurors) from being 

disqualified from serving on the jury. The jury included two jurors 

who had stated their opposition to the death penalty. 

However, the core holding of Townsend has proven over 

time to be problematic. Indeed, Pierce argued to the Court of 

Appeals that Townsend is incorrect and harmful. Brief of Appellant, 
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at 2, 51-53. The State agreed. Townsend is based on concerns 

about informing jurors of the punishment that a defendant is facing. 

But informing potential jurors that a murder case does not involve 

the death penalty is not, in fact, informing the jury of the 

punishment that will result. As illustrated by this case, the 

punishment for murder in the first degree could be anything from a 

20-year sentence to life in prison without parole. The jury that is 

informed that a case is not a death penalty case still does not know 

what the actual punishment will be. More importantly, there is no 

reason to believe that a juror in a murder case would not take her 

duties seriously. There is no reason to presume that jurors become 

inattentive as soon as they know execution is not a possible 

sentence. Most jurors expect the punishment in a murder case to 

be substantial. 

As can be seen here, the Townsend decision causes 

unnecessary confusion for the trial court and parties, and creates

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