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

argument on the admissibility of text messages from an individual 

identified as Charisma to Precious Reed, the court inserted the appearance 

of racial bias by commenting, “we don’t have any information, of course, 

about Mr. Charisma, so we don’t know whether he’s some white guy like 

me making a threat or somebody who’s actually, you know, more likely to 

be a gangster.” RP 2915. The court’s comment appeared to indicate it 

viewed nonwhites as “more likely” to be gangsters than “white guy[s]” 

like the judge. The court subsequently “admitted that his statement 

violated the Code [of Judicial Conduct] in that it manifests bias in 

suggesting a connection between race and the likelihood that someone is a 

gangster” and was admonished by the Commission on Judicial Conduct.19 

                                            
19 In re the Matter of The Honorable Douglass A. North, Judge of 

the King County Superior Court, CJC No. 8583-F-174 (Dec. 8, 2017), 
https://www.cjc.state.wa.us/materials/activity/public_actions/2017/8583Fi
nalStip.pdf.  

https://www.cjc.state.wa.us/materials/activity/public_actions/2017/8583FinalStip.pdf
https://www.cjc.state.wa.us/materials/activity/public_actions/2017/8583FinalStip.pdf
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 The racially biased comment denied Pierce’s due process right to a 

trial free from actual and apparent bias and partiality. Const. art. I, § 22; 

U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; State v. Moreno, 147 Wn.2d 500, 507, 58 

P.3d 265 (2002); Press-Enter. Co. v. Superior Court of Cal., 464 U.S. 501, 

508, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984) (“No right ranks higher than 

the right of the accused to a fair trial.”). 

 Although cases interpret the due process clause of the federal and 

state constitution to guarantee a trial free from bias, the Court of Appeals 

held “an appearance of fairness claim is not constitutional in nature.” 

Compare Slip Op. at 16 (quoting In re Guardianship of Cobb, 172 Wn. 

App. 393, 404, 292 P.3d 772 (2012)) with e.g., Withrow v. Larkin, 421 

U.S. 35, 47, 95 S. Ct. 1456, 43 L. Ed. 2d 712 (1975) (due process right to 

a fair hearing prohibits actual bias and “‘the probability of unfairness’” 

(quoting In re Murchison, 349 U.S. 133, 136, 75 S. Ct. 623, 99 L. Ed. 942 

(1955)); Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado, __ U.S. __, 137 S. Ct. 855, 868, 

197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017) (discussing Fourteenth Amendment’s “central 

purpose” to “eliminate racial discrimination,” which is “especially 

pernicious in the administration of justice”) (internal citations omitted). 

 This holding works great injustice throughout our state as racial 

bias continues to permeate our criminal justice system. Gregory, No. 

88086-7, Slip. Op. at 22-25 (citing extensive examples of racial bias in our 
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criminal justice system). The right to an impartial judge is among the 

“constitutional rights so basic to a fair trial that their infraction can never 

be treated as harmless error.” Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 23 & n. 

8, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967). The racially biased lens through 

which the court viewed evidence undermines the fairness and integrity of 

the trial. The Court should grant review and examine the effect of the trial 

court’s admittedly biased comment during an evidentiary ruling in this 

case. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4). 

2. The Court should grant review to determine 
whether the trial court properly denied an 
excusable homicide instruction in defense to the 
felony murder charge where the defendants 
contended that, if Bienhoff fired the weapon that 
killed Reed, the discharge occurred accidentally 
during a struggle for Reed’s gun. 
 

The trial court denied Pierce’s requested instruction on excusable 

homicide based on a lawful act of self-defense, finding self-defense is not 

a defense to robbery and Pierce could argue Bienhoff did not attempt to 

rob Reed without an excusable homicide instruction. RP 3646-80, 3727-

28; see RCW 9A.16.030. The Court of Appeals affirmed, holding Pierce 

could argue he was not committing a felony under the instructions 

provided and distinguishing State v. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d 506, 122 P.3d 

150 (2005), and State v. Slaughter, 143 Wn. App. 936, 186 P.3d 1084 

(2008). Slip Op. at 34-38. This Court is presently reviewing whether the 

http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1967129471&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=Ie754e599239a11deb5cbad29a280d47c&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1967129471&pubNum=708&originatingDoc=Ie754e599239a11deb5cbad29a280d47c&refType=RP&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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trial court should have provided an excusable homicide instruction in a 

second degree felony murder case predicated on assault in State v. 

Henderson, No. 95603-1 (oral argument heard Oct. 9, 2018). The Court 

should grant review of the similar issue here. 

3. The Court should review evidentiary rulings that 
erroneously admitted irrelevant and prejudicial 
evidence against Pierce and improperly 
precluded Pierce from presenting evidence 
probative of his defense. 
 

 The Court should grant review of the several trial court rulings that 

prejudiced Pierce’s right to present a defense by admitting irrelevant and 

prejudicial evidence against Pierce and precluded Pierce from presenting 

other, probative evidence. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(3).  

a. The court admitted irrelevant and unfairly 
prejudicial evidence of Pierce’s violence towards a 
co-defendant 10 months after Reed’s death. 
 

 The trial court abused its discretion in admitting under ER 404(b) 

evidence of Pierce’s violence towards a third party—an in-custody assault 

of a codefendant—months after the alleged murder to show consciousness 

of guilt. E.g., RP 184-204; City of Auburn v. Hedlund, 165 Wn.2d 645, 

654-55, 201 P.3d 315 (2009); App’ts Op. Br., No. 74363-5-I, pp.24-29 

(filed Oct. 25, 2016); App’ts Reply Br., No. 74363-5-I, pp.10-15 (filed Jul. 

26, 2017); see Slip Op. at 24-29 (finding no abuse of discretion). The 

probative value was limited but the risk of unfair prejudice was high 
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because the uncharged misconduct, like the charged felony murder, was a 

violent act that increased the chance the jury would make a forbidden 

propensity inference. This risk became a certainty when the prosecutor 

argued in rebuttal that the assault evidence showed Pierce’s propensity for 

violence, which circumvented the consciousness-of-guilt basis for 

admission. RP 3776.20  

b. The court improperly excluded defense evidence of 
Reed’s compromised financial condition, which 
supported Reed’s motive and plan to rob Pierce’s 
codefendant. 

 
 The court further violated Pierce’s right to present a defense and 

abused its discretion by excluding evidence of Reed’s compromised 

financial situation—six pawn shop receipts that were coming due, 

evidence of Reed’s receipt of financial assistance, a threat from another to 

enforce a $300 debt Reed owed, that the Reeds received public assistance 

and had high expenses—as well as Reed’s prior robbery to show Reed’s 

motive and plan to rob Bienhoff. RP (10/26/15 PM) 63-67, 101-08; RP 

2969-71; CP 336-38 (excluded pawn receipts totaled $1510); see Slip Op. 

at 18-20 (upholding exclusion as exercise of court’s ER 403 discretion).  

                                            
20 The prosecutor argued, Pierce “bragged about knocking out 

Scott Barnes, his codefendant, causing Barnes to be wheeled out in a 
wheelchair, causing him to need eight stitches, causing Pierce to break his 
own hand.” RP 3776. Pierce’s “bragging” about committing such a violent 
act that he broke his hand was used to urge the jury to view Pierce as a 
violent and dangerous person. 
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 The trial court required the defense to prove Reed was in “acute 

financial distress” or “financial crisis” before evidence of his financial 

motive to rob could be admitted. RP 104-38. This is the wrong standard. 

Trial courts properly admit evidence of lack of income and extensive debts 

as probative of an individual’s motive to commit robbery. State v. Luvene, 

127 Wn.2d 690, 708-09, 903 P.2d 960 (1995) (upholding the trial court’s 

admission of evidence defendant was financially distressed prior to the 

robbery and then suddenly accumulated wealth); State v. Kennard, 101 

Wn. App. 533, 541-43, 6 P.3d 38 (2000) (“Evidence concerning a 

defendant’s bankruptcy and poor financial condition is admissible to show 

that the defendant was living beyond his means.”); State v. Matthews, 75 

Wn. App. 278, 877 P.2d 252 (1994) (evidence of defendant’s bankruptcy 

and correspondence of key bankruptcy-related events to charged robberies 

was admissible to support theory that an interrupted robbery motivated the 

charged murder); State v. Kim, 153 N.H. 322, 897 A.2d 968 (N.H. 2006).  

 The excluded evidence is tied directly to the main issue in the 

case—whether Reed intended to rob Bienhoff. RP 3871 (prosecutor’s 

argument that critical question is whether the defendants intended to rob 

Reed or whether Reed intended to rob Bienhoff). The trial court prevented 

Pierce from providing his explanation by relying on a higher burden than 

supported by the case law. See Hundtofte v. Encarnacion, 181 Wn.2d 1, 6-
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7, 330 P.3d 168 (2014) (application of the wrong legal standard constitutes 

an abuse of trial court’s discretion). This Court should review the issue. 

c. The trial court further hampered the defense by 
excluding evidence of Reed’s associate’s gun 
ownership. 

 
 The trial court also improperly limited Pierce’s evidence and cross-

examination relating to Demetrius Bibb’s gun ownership, which was 

relevant to show Reed’s associate likely had a firearm with him during the 

killing and therefore could have fired the shots that the State attributed to 

Pierce. RP 1606-09; see Slip Op. at 22-24 (upholding exclusion under ER 

404(b)). The defendants sought to admit this evidence as relevant, specific 

instances of conduct used to attack Bibb’s credibility that he did not have 

a firearm with him (ER 608(b)), and to prove Bibb’s opportunity to be the 

second shooter that day (ER 404(b)). RP 1585-1609; CP 31, 100-01, 638-

46. Bibb’s knowledge, training, and experience as well as his opportunity 

to be the second shooter were relevant, non-propensity purposes for 

admitting the evidence.  

 Because there was no risk of prejudice to the accused in admitting 

this evidence, relevance was the touchstone for admissibility. E.g., State v. 

Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 723-24, 230 P.3d 576 (2010); United States v. 

Aboumoussallem, 726 F.2d 906, 911-12 (2d Cir. 1984) (“the standard of 

admissibility when a criminal defendant offers similar acts evidence as a 
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shield need not be as restrictive as when a prosecutor uses such evidence 

as a sword”); New Jersey v. Garfole, 388 A.2d 587, 591 (N.J. 1978). 

 The Court should grant review and hold, because the evidence was 

relevant, it should have been admitted. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3). 

d. Pierce was further prejudiced by the admission of 
extensive substantive testimony of two out-of-court 
conversations where their only relevance was to 
impeach testimony that the conversations did not 
occur and where the court’s limiting instruction 
commented on the evidence. 

 
 Over objection, the trial court admitted testimony from Hiram 

Warrington that he had two conversations with Lyons that Lyons testified 

did not occur. RP 2659-60, 2696-2708. The testimony was purportedly 

admitted solely to impeach Lyons’ testimony that the conversations did 

not take place. RP 2783. Therefore, the testimony should have been 

limited to whether Warrington had these conversations with Lyons; the 

content of the conversation was not relevant to Lyons’ impeachment.  

 However, the State extensively examined Warrington as to the 

substance and content of those two conversations. RP 2780-92. The 

testimony amounted to an additional recounting of the State’s theory. See 

id. 

The State did not proffer any basis for admitting the substance of 

the hearsay statements, and the jury was told not to consider it. However, 
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the limiting instruction suffers from two additional problems. First, it is 

well known that juries have a difficult time distinguishing between 

impeachment and substantive evidence. State v. Hancock, 109 Wn.2d 760, 

763-64, 748 P.2d 611 (1988); RP 2719 (defense argument that jury is 

“going to take it in as substantive evidence”). Second, the instruction was 

a comment on the evidence in violation of article IV, section 16. The court 

instructed the jury, in part, “Testimony regarding any oral assertions made 

by Ray Lyons to Hiram Warrington may be considered by you only for the 

purpose of impeaching Ray Lyons’ credibility.” RP 2783. It should have 

been a question of fact for the jury to determine whether Lyons made any 

oral assertions to Warrington. RP 2722 (defense argument as to same). 

Yet, the court’s instruction took that question away from the jury by 

indicating there were oral assertions. 

 The Court should grant review in light of these individual and 

cumulative evidentiary and constitutional errors.  

4. The Court should review additional errors that 
occurred during voir dire. 
 
a. The trial court erred when it informed the jury this is a 

noncapital case. 
 

The court violated the rule this Court established in State v. 

Townsend, 142 Wn.2d 838, 15 P.3d 145 (2001), by telling jurors that the 

death penalty was not at issue. “[I]n response to any mention of capital 
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punishment, the trial judge should state generally that the jury is not to 

consider sentencing.” State v. Hicks, 163 Wn.2d 477, 487, 181 P.3d 831 

(2008). The trial court erred because it first told the jury panel that the 

Supreme Court has said the court could not inform jurors whether the 

death penalty is involved and then said sentencing was the court’s job. RP 

825-26 (“The Washington Supreme Court has said that I can’t tell you 

whether a death sentence is involved or not.”), 835-37. Instead, the court 

should have told the jury they are not to consider sentencing. Hicks, 163 

Wn.2d at 487. 

By telling jurors they would not be included in the sentencing 

process, the court made clear to anyone who knew the former death 

penalty process in Washington that the death penalty was not in fact at 

issue here. RP 835-37 (your job . . . would just be to take in the evidence 

and decide whether or not the State has met its burden, and whether or not 

these two defendants are guilty beyond a reasonable doubt”; “it’s the 

court’s job to do the sentencing”). These comments violated this Court’s 

holding in Townsend. 



 22 

b. In the alternative, the Court should grant review and 
overrule Townsend. 

 
 Alternatively, Pierce agrees with the State that the Townsend rule 

is incorrect and harmful and should be overruled. See Petit. for Review, 

pp.15-18; App’ts Op. Br., pp.51-53. 

c. The court indicated jurors could rely on extrinsic 
evidence. 

 
 The Court has repeatedly held a jury’s consideration of novel or 

extrinsic evidence, including legal definitions outside the court’s 

instructions, is misconduct and can be grounds for a new trial. State v. 

Balisok, 123 Wn.2d 114, 118, 866 P.2d 631 (1994); Adkins v. Aluminum 

Co. of Amer., 110 Wn.2d 128, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988); Halverson v. 

Anderson, 82 Wn.2d 746, 752, 513 P.2d 827 (1973); Bouton-Perkins 

Lumber Co. v. Huston, 81 Wash. 678, 143 P. 146 (1914).  

When Juror 20 asked whether jurors who know could tell others 

how the death penalty works in Washington, the court simply said “I don’t 

know how to answer that question, because the Washington Supreme 

Court’s decision I find very difficult, so I can’t – I don’t know what to say 

about that.” RP 830. The court failed to instruct jurors that they could not 

rely on their prior knowledge of the law. 

The record demonstrates the jurors misunderstood this rule.  In 

individual questioning, a juror indicated that if she had known the charge, 
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she would have done research before she started jury duty. RP 873-75. 

This juror clearly believed that jurors could bring their independent 

knowledge of the law into deliberations. 

d. By allowing the State to strike an African-American 
juror for pretextual reasons, the trial court violated 
Pierce’s right to equal protection. 

 
Voir dire suffered from an additional error of constitutional 

magnitude: the State was permitted to strike a black juror, Juror 6, despite 

a showing of purposeful discrimination in violation of the Equal 

Protection Clause. App’ts Op. Br., pp.55-65 (relying on U.S. Const. 

amend. XIV and Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. 

Ed. 2d 69 (1986), among other authority).21 The trial court’s ruling under 

Batson causes particular concern for the impartiality of the trial because 

                                            
21 The trial court erred by predetermining that the State was not

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